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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. Does Greenlawn have the right as a riparian landowner to continue water withdrawals for 

municipal purposes during a drought without instituting any conservation measures? 

II. Was the ACOE’s operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works to provide water flow to 

Greenlawn during severe drought conditions a “discretionary act” subject to the 

consultation requirement under § 7 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536? 

III. Did Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly all of the already reduced flow from the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works constitute a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel, violating § 

9 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1538? 

IV. Must a District Court balance the equities before enjoining a beneficial municipal activity 

when that activity would lead to the death of an entire population of an endangered 

species? 
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

The United States District Court for the District of New Union entered its judgment on 

this case. Plaintiff-appellant and Defendant-appellant entered timely notices of appeal. This court 

has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1294. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

I. Common law riparian doctrine dictates that riparian owners follow a “reasonable use” 

policy, even during a drought. 

 The lower court’s ruling that a “share the shortage” concept is precluded by common law 

riparian rights is incorrect and should be reversed. Based on common law riparian rights, the 

reasonable use of water is directly tied to sharing the shortage, and in lower flow, Greenlawn 

should have reduced its take of the water to the more reasonable annual average and to share the 

water shortage with fellow riparian owner ACOE. 

 

II. The ACOE’s decision to continue operating Howard Runnet Dam Works during 

drought conditions was a discretionary agency action subject to the consultation 

requirement in § 7 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536. 

Agencies do not need to consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service under § 7 of the ESA 

when they are taking non-discretionary action. In determining if an action is discretionary, the 

Court considers the specificity of the statute, the use of imperative language, and whether the law 

lays out a series of criteria that, once fulfilled, require the agency to take a certain action. In this 

case, the Manual included clear instructions for what to do when the lake levels dropped below 

certain points but did not provide any clarity on how to implement the agreement with 

Greenlawn. The state of New Union has adopted the common law for riparian rights, requiring 

courts to apply a reasonability test based on other owners’ interests and the available water 

supply. Because the language around the agreement is vague, and the state of New Union has 

adopted the reasonability test for riparian rights, the ACOE maintains discretion over how to 

implement the agreement with Greenlawn and is subject to the consultation requirement under § 

7 of the ESA.  



4 
 

 

III. Greenlawn “took” the oval pigtoe mussel when it decided to withdraw almost all the 

water from the Bypass Reach of the Green River. 

The City of Greenlawn is a “person” under the ESA definition, so it is subject to the 

“take” prohibition outlined in § 9. 16 U.S.C. § 1532 (13). The statutory definition of “take” 

includes “harm”, which the Secretary of the Interior defines as including adverse modification or 

destruction of habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1538; 50 CFR § 17.3. This regulatory definition of “harm” is 

a valid exercise of the Secretary’s authority. The harm needs to be direct or willful to be subject 

to § 9 penalties. The facts regarding Greenlawn’s water withdrawal are undisputed. Expert 

testimony establishes that Greenlawn’s excessive use of water from the Bypass Reach during a 

drought destroyed the habitat of the oval pigtoe mussel, killing 25% of the Green River 

population. Had their withdrawals continued at that rate, the entire Green River population 

would have been wiped out. Because Greenlawn is directly responsible for the habitat 

destruction that killed oval pigtoe mussels and the City did not apply for a § 10 incidental take 

permit, Greenlawn has taken an endangered species in violation of 16 U.S.C. § 1538.  

 

IV. A Court need not “balance the equities” when the existence of an entire species is at 

risk. 

The lower court correctly asserted Tennessee Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978) as 

the primary authority here, and in doing so, correctly held that the court does not need to balance 

the equities before enjoining municipal activities when the extirpation of an entire population is 

at risk. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

The Endangered Species Act provides for the protection of species that are recognized as 

threatened or endangered. See 16 U.S.C. § 1531-1544. § 7 of the ESA requires federal agencies 

to consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service before taking any action that could jeopardize the 

continued existence of any threatened or endangered species or result in the adverse modification 

or destruction of habitat. See 16 U.S.C. § 1536. § 9 of the ESA prohibits the “taking” of any 

endangered species by any person subject to the jurisdiction of the United States. See 16 U.S.C. § 

1538. There are two terms defined in § 1532 of the ESA that are relevant to this brief: 

13. The term “person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, trust, association, or 

any other private entity; or any officer, employee, agent, department, or instrumentality 

of the Federal Government, of any State, municipality, or political subdivision of a State, 

or of any foreign government; any state, municipality, or political subdivision of a State; 

or any other entity subject to the jurisdiction of the United States. 

19. The term “take” means to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, 

or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct. 

 

16 U.S.C. § 1532. The Department of the Interior describes “harm” under § 9 as follows:  

“Harm” in the definition of "take" in the Act means an act which actually kills or injures 

wildlife. Such act may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it 

actually kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, 

including breeding, feeding or sheltering. 

 

50 C.F.R. 17.3. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide that summary judgment should be 

granted when “the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the 

movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” USCS FRCP Rule 56 (a).  
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Factual Background 

The oval pigtoe mussel is a federally listed endangered species with populations in the 

Green River of the state of New Union. The species is extremely sensitive to decreases in water 

levels, as it requires a habitat of gravel or silty river beds with slow to moderate currents, at least 

25 CFS. A significant decrease in water flow leads to increased siltation of the riverbed, 

destroying habitat and killing the mussels. When the mussels are fully grown, they can adapt to 

minor changes in water levels by moving themselves, but they must still remain submerged. The 

mussels also depend on the sailfin shiner, a particular species of fish, to spawn, as the larval 

mussels must attach themselves to the gills of the fish. Significant decreases in water flow can 

inhibit the movement of the sailfin shiner, preventing the mussels from living to reach maturity 

and reproduce.  

The Green River population of the oval pigtoe mussel lives primarily in the part of the 

Green River downstream of where the Howard Runnet Dam’s tailrace meets the Bypass Reach 

of the River that passes through the city of Greenlawn. The city of Greenlawn receives its water 

supply from water that is released into the Bypass Reach from Howard Runnet Lake via the 

Diversion Dam, upstream of the oval pigtoe mussel habitat in the River. The city of Greenlawn 

owns the section of the Green River that is located within the city limits and has maintained 

riparian water withdrawals since 1893. Both the Howard Runnet Dam and the Diversion Dam 

were built in 1947 by the United States Army Corps of Engineers (ACOE), which continues 

maintaining and administering the dams to the present day. One of the stated purposes of the 

dams is supporting fish and wildlife.  
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In recognition of Greenlawn’s riparian rights as landowners, the ACOE chose to enter an 

agreement with the city to maintain flows out of the Diversion Dam into the Bypass Reach 

sufficient to allow Greenlawn to withdraw water “at such rates and times as it is entitled to as a 

riparian property owner”. This agreement was made because the original design of the Howard 

Runnet Dam would have cut off the water supply to Greenlawn entirely. However, the ACOE’s 

administration of the dams is also governed by a 1968 Water Control Manual, which establishes 

parameters for releasing water during various circumstances to maintain flood control and 

recreation water levels; provide for hydroelectric generation at the Howard Runnet Dam, flow 

for the City of Greenlawn and the Bypass Reach; and providing for sufficient downstream water 

releases to support fishing. When the levels in the Howard Runnet Lake drop below seasonal 

targets, the Manual calls for specific changes in the administration of the dam, as listed below: 

Zone 1 (Drought Watch): All recreational releases curtailed; minimum flow of 50 CFS 

(cubic feet per second) shall be maintained in the Green River at the confluence of the 

Howard Runnet Dam tailrace and the Bypass Reach for fish and wildlife purposes; flow 

of 50 CFS shall be maintained into the Bypass Reach from the Diversion Dam; daily 

hydroelectric power releases of up to 200 CFS for up to three hours per day shall be 

maintained. 

 

Zone 2 (Drought Warning): All recreational releases curtailed; Bypass Reach flow from 

the Diversion Dam reduced to 7 CFS; daily hydroelectric power releases of up to 200 

CFS for up to three hours per day shall be maintained. 

 

Zone 3 (Drought Emergency): All recreational releases curtailed; flow of 7 CFS shall be 

maintained into the Bypass Reach from the Diversion Dam; daily hydroelectric power 

releases curtailed.  

 

The Manual also contains a general provision that the ACOE shall operate the dams in 

accordance with any water supply agreements entered into by the ACOE and with the riparian 

rights of property owners under state law.  

From 1968, when the Manual was adopted, to 1997, drought conditions did not exist, and 

water shortages were not a problem. However, droughts have become much more frequent in the 
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21st Century, and the ACOE has had to follow Zone 1 (Drought Watch) procedures on several 

occasions from 1998-2016. In Spring of 2017, the lake levels reached Zone 2 (Drought Warning) 

for the first time, and the ACOE administered the requirements laid out in the manual, including 

reducing flow to the Bypass Reach, and subsequently the city of Greenlawn, to 7 CFS- a 

significant drop from the 50 CFS released during normal conditions.  

The city of Greenlawn immediately objected to the flow reduction, arguing that the 

guidelines were outdated, and the Spring planting season required a different measurement of 

water flow. The District Commander for the ACOE request that Greenlawn impose drought 

restrictions on residents, such as restricting lawn watering and car washing. The city objected to 

this as well, asserting that it had a common law right as a riparian landowner to make 

“reasonable use of the historic flows of the Green River Bypass Reach” and that it did not have 

any obligation to restrict water usage, arguing that watering lawns and ornamental plants were 

“reasonable riparian water uses” for both domestic and commercial purposes. The District 

Commander gave in, increasing the flow to the Bypass Reach to 30 CFS. 

After just three weeks of the increased flow, the lake dropped to Zone 3 (Drought 

Emergency) levels. The ACOE invoked the Zone 3 measures-- curtailing hydroelectric power 

releases-- but did not reduce the 30 CFS flow to Greenlawn. The city consumed nearly all of the 

water released in the Bypass Reach, and because power releases at the Howard Runnet dam were 

curtailed, no water was flowing from the tailrace to the confluence with the Bypass Reach. Green 

River flows that normally averaged 25 CFS downstream of the confluence-- prime habitat for the 

oval toe mussel-- dropped to nearly zero, creating stagnant pools of water and narrow trickles. 

Because the water was stagnant and most of the riverbed exposed, the mussels could not remain 

submerged, nor could the sailfin shiners swim through the river. Consequently, 25% of the Green 
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River population of mussels died. Undisputed expert testimony established that the Green River 

population of the oval pigtoe mussel would be killed off entirely if the conditions persisted, as 

the population segment would need at least 25 CFS to avoid extinction. At no point did the 

ACOE consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service about the effects on listed species under 

Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act, and the city of Greenlawn did not receive, or even 

apply for, incidental take permits under Section 9 of the ESA.  

New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. is a non-profit membership association that represents 

oyster fishermen in Green Bay, downstream of the Green River. These fishermen rely on a 

healthy flow from the Green River to keep salinity levels low and prevent predators from 

entering the bay and feeding on oysters. Their harvests decreased by 50% from 2000 to 2016, 

causing many of the members to default on loan payments. Because the members also rely on the 

New Union Regional Electric Cooperative for their electricity, their electric bills increased when 

the Howard Runnet Dam hydroelectric releases were curtailed. New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. 

brought suit against the ACOE and the city of Greenlawn, alleging violations of Sections 7 and 9 

of the ESA and common law riparian rights claims. The ACOE filed a cross-complaint, alleging 

that Greenlawn violated Section 9 (the “take” provision) of the ESA. Greenlawn also filed a 

cross-complaint, seeking a declaration that its rights as a riparian landowner entitle it to 

continued Bypass Reach flows sufficient to meet its municipal water needs.  

Procedural History 

Plaintiff-Appellant New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. (NUO) brought suit against 

Defendant-Appellant City of Greenlawn, New Union, and Defendant-Appellee United States 

Army Corps of Engineers in the United States District Court for New Union on July 17, 2017. 

The original complaint alleged that the flow reductions instituted by the ACOE without 
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consultation with the Fish and Wildlife Service violated Section 7 of the Endangered Species 

Act, that Greenlawn’s water withdrawals violated Section 9 of the Endangered Species Act and 

asserted a common law riparian rights claim on behalf of its members against the City of 

Greenlawn. ACOE filed a cross-complaint against Greenlawn, also alleging violations of Section 

9 of the ESA. Greenlawn filed a cross-complaint against ACOE, seeking a declaration of rights 

as a riparian landowner to flows in the Bypass Reach sufficient to meet its municipal needs.  

In the District Court, ACOE moved for summary judgment on NUO’s Section 7 ESA 

claim, which the Court granted. NUO moved for summary judgment on its ESA claims against 

the ACOE and the City of Greenlawn. The Court denied the motion against the ACOE and 

granted the motion against the city of Greenlawn under Section 9 of the ESA. The City of 

Greenlawn moved for summary judgment on its riparian rights claim and the claim against it 

under Section 9. The Court granted the motion on riparian rights and denied the motion under 

Section 9.  

NUO and Greenlawn brought timely notices of appeal to the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit. NUO appeals the District Court’s determination that the City of 

Greenlawn has riparian landowner rights to the Green River Bypass Reach and the holding that 

the ACOE did not violate the consultation requirement under Section 7 of the ESA for 

continuing to provide flow to the Bypass Reach during drought conditions. The City of 

Greenlawn appeals the Courts’ determination that its withdrawals from the Bypass Reach during 

drought conditions constitute a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel under Section 9 of 

the ESA and the Court’s determination that, when enjoining a municipal activity to prevent the 

extirpation of an endangered species, a court does not have to balance the equities of the 

municipal activity against the threat to the species.   
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ARGUMENT 

I. Under Common Law Riparian Doctrine, Greenlawn Had A Responsibility To 

Share The Shortage And Reduce Intake For Unreasonable Water Usage During 

The Time Of Diminished Flow. 

The question at the outset is whether Greenlawn, in time of water shortage, is permitted to 

continue withdrawing water for municipal purposes without conservation. The lower court’s ruling 

that a “share the shortage” concept is precluded by common law riparian rights is incorrect and 

should be reversed. Based on common law riparian rights, the reasonable use of water is directly 

tied to sharing the shortage, and in lower flow, Greenlawn should have reduced its take of the 

water to the more reasonable annual average and to share the water shortage with fellow riparian 

owner ACOE.  

 Generally, under common law riparian doctrine, which the State of New Union 

follows, water is to be used reasonably such that it does not affect other riparian landowners. 

However, in times of shortage, riparian rights shift to a mindset of conservation. In 2003, the 

Government Accountability Office put out a congressional report on freshwater supply among 

states, reporting that when states following riparian doctrine of water face a shortage, “under the 

riparian doctrine all water users share the shortage.” GAO-03-514 Freshwater Supply at 21 

(https://www.gao.gov/new.items/d03514.pdf). The lower court points out that “domestic use” of 

water can include gardening, which by today’s standard may include lawns and ornamental plants. 

N.U. Oystercatchers, Inc. v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs v. City of Greenlawn, Case No. 66-CV-

2017 at 13. While domestic use may usually take priority, courts in the past have considered 

reasonableness as a priority: 

In determining whether an artificial use of the water of a stream is 

reasonable or not, it is necessary to consider what the use is for, its extent, duration, 

necessity, and application, the nature and size of the stream, and the several uses to 
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which it is put, the extent of the injury to one proprietor and the benefit to the other, 

and all other facts which may bear upon the reasonableness of the use.  

Harris v. Brooks, 225 Ark. 436, 445 n.7 (1955). Thus, the reasonableness of water usage 

is still a primary factor in riparian water usage, and the lower court’s finding that Greenlawn’s 

increased use of water during a shortage to manage lawns and ornamental plants over ACOE’s 

power generation use should be reversed. Additionally, where the lower court stated that 

“[p]rinciples of riparian rights law seem to preclude this ‘share the shortage’ argument” is incorrect 

and should also be reversed. Id. 

 NUO will not waste this court’s time in arguing whether Greenlawn is in fact a 

proper riparian owner, as New Union recognizes those rights for municipalities. However, where 

the shortage in water occurred, Greenlawn should not have been allowed to more than triple their 

water intake during summer months from 6 MGD to 20 MGD, as this violates a reasonable use in 

time of diminished flow. Greenlawn, as a valid riparian owner, is subject to the concept that “all 

water users share the shortage.” GAO-03-514 Freshwater Supply at 21. Simple conservation 

measures would have been appropriate for Greenlawn to take during this time of diminished flow. 

To more than triple the water consumption in summer months under the reasoning of watering 

lawns and ornamental plants, forcing ACOE to curtail its power generation efforts, is unreasonable 

on its face. In Harris v. Brooks, the court highlighted that it is “necessary to consider what the 

[water] use is for, its extent, duration, necessity, and application, the nature and size of the stream, 

and the several uses to which it is put” when determining reasonableness. N.7 at 445. Lawns and 

plants need not go without water in total, but the District Commander’s decision to relent on 

Greenlawn’s request that they be allowed additional water without placing limits on lawn and plant 

water, as well as car washes, was unreasonable given the other uses the water would have been put 
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to, and the stark consequence it caused downstream. Greenlawn had a responsibility, under riparian 

doctrine, to recognize, accept and then share the water shortage with ACOE.  

 Under this reasonable use theory and given Greenlawn did not take appropriate 

conservation measures during this time, the court should reverse the lower court’s ruling on this 

question and find Greenlawn did not have the right to continue water withdrawals without 

conservation efforts. 

 

II. The ACOE’s decision to continue operating Howard Runnet Dam Works to 

provide flow to Greenlawn during drought conditions constituted a 

discretionary agency action subject to the consultation requirement in § 7 of the 

Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536 because the provisions in the manual 

regarding Greenlawn’s riparian rights were not specific criteria designed to 

trigger a particular agency action.  

 

When the Army Corps of Engineers deviated from the drought guidelines provided in the 

Water Control Manual to divert more water toward Greenlawn, it performed a discretionary 

action subject to the § 7 Consultation Requirement. In regard to recognizing Greenlawn’s 

riparian rights, the Manual simply states that the ACOE will “maintain flows in the Bypass 

Reach sufficient to allow the City of Greenlawn to continue water withdrawals in such quantities 

and at such rates and times as it is entitled to as a riparian property owner under the laws of the 

State of New Union.” The Manual does not give a checklist for determining what flows are 

sufficient to fulfill this obligation. Because Greenlawn is governed by common law riparian 

doctrine, courts apply a test of reasonableness based on the resources available and the rights of 

other owners, which would include the ACOE’s beneficial use of the dam for hydroelectric 

power generation. Colorado v. Kansas, 320 U.S. 383 (1943). A reasonability test is inherently 

discretionary, particularly when the statute does not provide specific criteria or factors. 

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S4X-3XB0-003B-71TC-00000-00?cite=320%20U.S.%20383&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S4X-3XB0-003B-71TC-00000-00?cite=320%20U.S.%20383&context=1000516
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Regardless of the reasonability of Greenlawn’s water withdrawals, the ACOE performed a 

discretionary act by diverting more water for Greenlawn than was expressly dictated in the 

Manual, based on its own assessment of state riparian law.  

Agencies do not need to consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service under § 7 of the ESA 

when they are taking non-discretionary action. Nat'l Ass'n of Home Builders (NAHB) v. Defs. of 

Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644 (2007). In NAHB, the EPA granted a transfer of permitting authority 

under the Clean Water Act to the state of Arizona without consulting the Fish and Wildlife 

Service about possible consequences to endangered species. Id. The language of the Clean Water 

Act created a mandate that once nine specific conditions were satisfied, the EPA “shall approve 

each submitted program”. Id. at 650-651. The Court ruled that § 7 consultation was not necessary 

because the EPA was required to take a certain action based on an exclusive list of statutorily-

provided criteria, so any finding of jeopardy or reasonably prudent alternatives could not factor 

into their action. Id. at 665. The decision hinged on the word “shall”, as well as the exclusive 

nine-item checklist.  

In this case, the Manual included clear instructions for what to do when the lake levels 

dropped below certain points. The facts are not clear on whether the Manual was adopted by 

statute, which would certainly make the guidelines non-discretionary actions. The Manual was 

adopted after the ACOE entered into the agreement with Greenlawn and adopted the agreement. 

If the agreement was contradictory to the drought guidelines, the Manual would have clarified 

which section holds greater authority over the ACOE’s actions. The drafters must not have 

anticipated a conflict, assuming that drought conditions would supersede riparian rights or that 

the reasonableness doctrine of riparian rights would require limited water use during a drought.  

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/4P24-6PB0-004B-Y018-00000-00?cite=551%20U.S.%20644&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/4P24-6PB0-004B-Y018-00000-00?cite=551%20U.S.%20644&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/4P24-6PB0-004B-Y018-00000-00?cite=551%20U.S.%20644&context=1000516
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Regardless of the reasonableness of Greenlawn’s water withdrawals, the ACOE was 

statutorily required to consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service prior to straying from the 

Manual’s drought guidelines because the agreement with Greenlawn is not specific enough to 

mandate any particular action under NAHB. In NAHB, Congress used specific language (“shall”) 

and set forth a checklist for determining whether the action shall be taken. Here, the agreement 

simply states that the ACOE should maintain flows sufficient to allow Greenlawn to withdraw 

“such quantities and at such rates and times as it is entitled to as a riparian property owner under 

the laws of the State of New Union”. Because New Union applies the common law riparian 

rights doctrine, an owner’s rights are considered in the context of other owners’ rights, as well as 

the supply of water available. Clearly, determining these rights, particularly during a drought, 

requires a lot of discretion and is not a mere formula that calculates what the decision should be. 

Because the ACOE took a discretionary action when deviating from the Manual’s guidelines 

during a drought emergency, it was required under § 7 of the Endangered Species Act to consult 

with the Fish and Wildlife Service to determine whether releasing more water to Greenlawn than 

was reasonable would put an endangered species in jeopardy or destroy habitat and identify 

reasonable and prudent alternatives.  

 

III. Greenlawn’s decision to withdraw almost all the water from the Bypass Reach of 

the Green River constituted a “take” of the oval pigtoe mussel under § 9 of the 

Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1538.  

 

By continuing to withdraw nearly 30 CFS of water from the Bypass Reach, Greenlawn 

caused 25% of the Green River population of the oval pigtoe mussel to die in a matter of months 

due to the destruction of their riverbed habitat. The parties stipulate to the fact that Greenlawn 

did not apply for an incidental take permit under § 10 of the Endangered Species Act.  
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The Endangered Species Act states, in relevant part, that no person subject to the 

jurisdiction of the United States shall “take” an endangered species.16 U.S.C. § 1538. The statute 

defines “person” as an “individual, corporation,... or any other private entity; or 

any...instrumentality of the Federal Government; any State, municipality, or political subdivision 

of a State; or any other entity subject to the jurisdiction of the United States.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532 

(13). The statute defines “take” as “to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, 

capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.” 16 U.S.C. § 1523 (19). A 

regulation implemented by the Department of the Interior in 1975 expanded on the statutory 

definition, clarifying that harm means: 

An act which actually kills or injures wildlife. Such act may include significant habitat 

modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures wildlife by significantly 

impairing essential behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding, or sheltering.  

 

50 CFR § 17.3. In Sweet Home, the Supreme Court ruled that the regulation was a valid exercise 

of the Secretary’s authority and was consistent with the common definition of the word “harm”. 

Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Great Or., 515 U.S. 687 (1995). The Court also 

found that harm need not be “direct” or “willful” to fall under the § 9 Take prohibition. Id. at 

697. That regulatory definition is still in place today. 50 C.F.R. § 17.3 (2019). Therefore, 

modification or degradation of habitat can constitute a taking under the Endangered Species Act, 

when such modification actually injures or kills an endangered species, and the responsible party 

has not obtained an incidental take permit under § 10.  

Because Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly all the water from the Bypass Reach during 

drought conditions actually killed 25% of the river’s oval pigtoe mussel population, the City is 

liable for taking an endangered species under § 9 of the ESA. Greenlawn is a municipality, so it 

falls within the definition of “person” promulgated under the statute. Under Sweet Home, 

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S0D-H4T0-003B-R24C-00000-00?cite=515%20U.S.%20687&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S0D-H4T0-003B-R24C-00000-00?cite=515%20U.S.%20687&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/administrative-codes/id/5X8N-N6Y1-FFTT-X1JD-00000-00?cite=50%20CFR%2017.3&context=1000516
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plaintiffs do not need to show that Greenlawn took direct or willful actions against the mussels to 

prove harm. Greenlawn’s water withdrawals reduced the downstream Green River to stagnant 

puddles and trickles. Not only did this increase siltation, smothering the adult mussels, but it also 

inhibited the travel of the sailfin shiner, preventing larval mussels from reaching maturity. The 

water levels in the Green River were so low that even adult mussels, which would normally be 

able to travel to a more suitable habitat, were unable to reach any habitable riverbed. 

Uncontradicted expert testimony showed that 25% of the Green River population of mussels died 

because of Greenlawn’s water withdrawals. The entire Green River population would have died 

had those conditions persisted.  

The destruction of the mussel’s habitat can be traced directly to Greenlawn’s excessive 

water withdrawals and blatant refusal to regulate unnecessary and unreasonable water use during 

a severe drought. Howard Runnet Lake was only at a Zone 2 drought before Greenlawn protested 

the reduced flows, so the Howard Runnet Dam was still operating for 3 hours a day at 200 CFS, 

which would have provided just enough water to protect the oval pigtoe mussel’s riverbed 

habitat. It was only when Greenlawn demanded the flows to the Bypass Reach be increased and 

proceeded to withdraw practically all of that water that the lake reached Zone 3 levels and the 

Howard Runnet Dam was shut down completely, stopping all flow into the Green River and 

destroying the mussel’s habitat. Greenlawn is directly responsible for the degradation of the 

mussel’s riverbed habitat and is subject to liability for taking the species under 16 U.S.C. § 

1538(a)(1)(B).  

 

IV. Greenlawn Was Appropriately Enjoined For Violation Of Esa § 9, And The Court 

Does Not Need To Weigh The Equities Before Such An Injunction Because The Risk 

To The Endangered Mussels Is Incalculable. 
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Finding Greenlawn in violation of the Endangered Species Act § 9, the next decision is 

whether to enjoin Greenlawn from making such water withdrawals that deprive the mussels of 

their habitat. NUO argues that such an injunction is appropriate.  

The lower court correctly asserted Tennessee Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978) as 

the primary authority here, and in doing so, correctly held that the court does not need to balance 

the equities before enjoining municipal activities when the extirpation of an entire population is at 

risk. As noted by the lower court’s citing of Tennessee Valley Auth., the Endangered Species Act 

“shows clearly that Congress viewed the value of endangered species as ‘incalculable.’” Id. at 187. 

Similarly noted by the Ninth Circuit, where there is a “reasonably certain threat of imminent harm 

to a protected species,” the court must take injunctive action. Defenders of Wildlife v. Bernal, 204 

F.3d 920, 925 (9th Cir. 2000). As such, the lower court issued injunctive action against 

Greenlawn’s withdrawals from this area that the mussels depend on for their survival.  

In conclusion, this court should adopt the lower court’s holding on this question, as 

anything to the contrary would be adverse to Congressional intent of protecting vulnerable species 

against other interests. 
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CONCLUSION 

 

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff-appellant New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. asks this 

Court to reverse the judgments of the District Court on the issue of Greenlawn’s riparian rights 

and the issue of the ACOE’s obligations under the § 7 consultation requirement. Further, 

Plaintiff-appellant asks this Court to uphold the District Court’s decisions that Greenlawn 

violated the § 9 “take” prohibition and that a court does not need to balance the benefits of a 

municipal activity against the threat to the species when issuing an injunction to protect an 

endangered species.  

 First, Under the reasonable use theory, Greenlawn did not take appropriate conservation 

measures. This Court should reverse the lower court’s ruling on this question and find that 

Greenlawn did not have the right to continue water withdrawals without conservation efforts 

during a severe drought. 

Second, the Endangered Species Act requires agencies to consult with the Fish and 

Wildlife Service before taking any discretionary action that could put an endangered species in 

jeopardy. The ACOE’s agreement with Greenlawn was not detailed enough to set forth any 

specific action based on measurable criteria, so it did not create a non-discretionary action under 

Supreme Court precedent. Because agreement did not explicitly state the actions the ACOE must 

take to honor Greenlawn’s riparian rights, the ACOE was exercising discretion when it released 

more water into the Bypass Reach than agency guidelines specified and was subject to the § 7 

consultation requirement of the ESA. 

Third, the Supreme Court has decided that adverse modification and destruction of 

habitat are valid regulatory expansions on the definition of “take” under § 9 of the Endangered 

Species Act. Courts have interpreted the “take” prohibition as not requiring a “willful” level of 
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intent, so accidental takings are still subject to the provision. Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly 

30 CFS of water from the Bypass Reach resulted in the destruction of the Green River, killing 

25% of the river’s population of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel. Because the City’s actions 

caused the habitat loss that led to the actual death of an endangered species, Greenlawn is in 

violation of § 9 of the Endangered Species Act.  

 Finally, the lower court correctly held that the court does not need to balance the equities 

before enjoining municipal activities when the extirpation of an entire population is at risk. This 

court should adopt the lower court’s holding on this question, as anything to the contrary would 

be adverse to Congressional intent of protecting vulnerable species against other interests. 

 


